IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Oct 25 2023 03:31PM EDT Transaction ID 71191446

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,

v.

Supreme Court No.: 23-318 Case No. 22-F-361 Circuit Court of Raleigh County

ANDREW MILLER,

Defendant below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew Brummond Appellate Counsel W.Va. Bar No. 10878 Public Defender Services Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioner and two others were in an apartment, and one was non-fatally shot. The State blamed Petitioner. Petitioner testified he saw the third man shoot the victim. The jury convicted Petitioner and found him to be a third offense recidivist.

- I. Did the State comment on post-arrest silence by asking Petitioner why he did not blame the third man at his preliminary hearing?
- II. Did the State fail to meet its burden of proving each predicate offense occurred after the prior, where both offenses occurred within a month of each other and before the State had charged either?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Raleigh County jury convicted Petitioner of malicious assault, wanton endangerment, and felon in possession, then recidivized him.¹ However, it did so in a proceeding marred by prosecutorial overreach.

First, the prosecutor commented upon Petitioner's post-arrest silence.² He asked Petitioner why he did not tell his lawyer about the other shooter, on the grotesque theory that if true, his lawyer would have disclosed the privileged communication to the prosecutor.³ He then asked about his silence at the preliminary hearing. "[T]here were police officers around you, weren't there? ... you could have told them?"⁴

And second, the State sought a third offense recidivist without any regard for its burden to prove two distinct predicates.⁵ Its exhibits made clear that for recidivist purposes, Petitioner had only one prior conviction.⁶

The bar for a fair trial cannot be this low.⁷ Petitioner appeals.

¹ A.R. 1075–79.

² Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 619 (1976).

³ See A.R. 898–99.

⁴ A.R. 898.

⁵ See A.R. 1108–09.

⁶ See A.R. 1094–1106.

⁷ State v. Walker, 207 W. Va. 415, 421, 533 S.E.2d 48, 54 (2000) ("To permit the State to do what occurred in this case, would effectively make *Miranda* warnings meaningless.").

A. Three people—Petitioner, a drug dealer, and an addict—were in an apartment. Someone shot the addict. The drug dealer successfully fled from police, and the State charged Petitioner for the shooting.

In 2022, Petitioner resided with his girlfriend in an apartment complex in Beckley, West Virginia.8 On June 2, she permitted J.T., a drug dealer, to conduct business out of her home.⁹ She also had another houseguest, the victim.¹⁰ He was a drug user, but was visiting as a friend, not to purchase.¹¹ The victim knew Petitioner but the drug dealer was a stranger.¹²

While the girlfriend was out of the room, someone shot the victim.¹³ Surveillance video first shows the victim fleeing to another apartment.¹⁴ Petitioner exits next, then the drug dealer, who has a bag slung over his shoulders.¹⁵

The drug dealer alluded capture, and during trial was still at large.¹⁶ Petitioner had a brief interaction with the police who responded to the shooting and gave a fake name.¹⁷ They patted him down, found no weapons, and released him.¹⁸ Police later identified Petitioner and the State charged him for the shooting.¹⁹

B. At trial, Petitioner and the State presented competing theories of the case. The State impeached Petitioner with his silence at his preliminary hearing.

Jurors had to decide whether to believe the victim, who said Petitioner shot him, or the defense theory, that the victim was afraid to incriminate the drug dealer who remained at large.²⁰ Each side presented eyewitness testimony-the victim and Petitioner—and each had corroborating circumstantial evidence.

⁸ A.R. 551.

⁹ A.R. 553.

¹⁰ A.R. 553–54.

¹¹ *Id.*; A.R. 755.

¹² A.R. 756.

¹³ A.R. 761; A.R. 589.

¹⁴ A.R. 1073.

¹⁵ Id.

¹⁶ A.R. 676–77. ¹⁷ A.R. 407-08.

 $^{^{18}}$ *Id*.

¹⁹ A.R. 471–72.

²⁰ Compare A.R. 381-89 (State's opening) with A.R. 389-96 (Petitioner's opening).

The State argued that Petitioner was also a drug dealer and believed the victim had stolen his drugs.²¹ Petitioner's girlfriend testified that from her bedroom she heard a voice she believed to be Petitioner demand that the victim return his "bag."²² She then heard a gunshot.²³ The victim said Petitioner shot him, and the police later found a gun near the scene that tested positive for Petitioner's DNA.²⁴

Petitioner testified that the drug dealer shot the victim.²⁵ The victim told a nurse and investigating officer he did not know his assailant,²⁶ and he had a motive to falsely implicate Petitioner: the drug dealer remained a threat to him.²⁷ The drug dealer's flight itself suggested guilt,²⁸ and he was the only one with a literal bag.²⁹ Petitioner ditched his gun and gave a fake name because he was on parole for a felony.³⁰ Finally, the victim was adamant that the gun found at the scene was the wrong one.³¹ A different gun shot him.³²

Jurors thus had to decide who to believe, and the prosecutor and defense lawyer vigorously challenged each other's witnesses.³³ The prosecutor sought to preclude Petitioner from testifying as an eyewitness at all.³⁴ When this failed, he asked if he could at least question Petitioner as to "why he did not alert authorities that this purported other individual committed the crime?"³⁵ It is not unconstitutional to impeach a person with prearrest silence,³⁶ and the defense did not object.³⁷

- ²² A.R. 545–47.
- ²³ A.R. 547.
- ²⁴ A.R. 902.
- ²⁵ A.R. 884.
- ²⁶ A.R. 488; A.R. 757.
- ²⁷ A.R. 975.

²⁹ A.R. 1073; A.R. 592.

³¹ A.R. 730.

- ³⁴ A.R. 868; but see Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 51–52 (1987).
- ³⁵ A.R. 871.

³⁷ A.R. 871.

²¹ See A.R. 945.

²⁸ See Syl. Pt. 6, *State v. Payne*, 167 W. Va. 252, 280 S.E.2d 72 (1981).

³⁰ See A.R. 889.

³² A.R. 730–33; A.R. 735.

³³ Compare A.R. 381-89 (State's opening) with A.R. 389-96 (Petitioner's opening).

³⁶ See Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 240 (1980).

Accordingly, the defense also did not object in open court when the prosecutor asked Petitioner about his failure to report a crime that evening or in the days after.³⁸ But then the prosecutor began asking about post-arrest silence: "[Y]ou had a lawyer for some time ... you could have told your lawyer who would have told - -"39 The defense objected that this ventured into privileged communications.⁴⁰ The court sustained the objection.⁴¹

The prosecutor continued asking about post-arrest silence: "During the preliminary hearing there were police officers around ... you could have told them?"⁴² Again the defense objected.⁴³ In addition to his privilege to communicate with his attorney, he had a privilege against self-incrimination.⁴⁴ Asking about his silence at the preliminary hearing violated his constitutional rights.45

This time, the court overruled the objection.⁴⁶ So, the prosecutor pressed on: "You could have spoken to law enforcement ... between June 2nd and this afternoon, you [had] all kinds of opportunities to tell this story ... you didn't do it?"⁴⁷ The defense objected. "Your Honor, again, I'm going to object. I believe that this is a clear violation of his Fifth Amendment Right and his right to have counsel. He has violated two constitutional rights, Your Honor."48

The court overruled the objection, and the prosecutor continued.⁴⁹ "You had ample opportunity? ... and you didn't do it?"50 The defense objected a fourth time. "Now, I think we are going to have to testify as to what he did and didn't tell his attorney, which I

- ³⁸ A.R. 898. ³⁹ *Id*.
- ⁴⁰ Id.
- ⁴¹ A.R. 899. ⁴² Id.
- ⁴³ Id.
- ⁴⁴ Id.
- ⁴⁵ Id.
- ⁴⁶ A.R. 900.
- ⁴⁷ Id. ⁴⁸ Id.
- ⁴⁹ Id.
- ⁵⁰ Id.

think is a violation."⁵¹ The prosecutor continued before the court could respond, but the defense pushed for a ruling.⁵² "I would ask for a ruling on that, Your Honor. I believe he violated the confidentiality of the attorney/client privilege as to what he did and didn't say, and then he asked him specifically 'What did you tell your attorney?'"⁵³

The court put an end to the matter. "Well, I sustained that objection and I'm overruling the present objection."⁵⁴

C. The State recidivized Petitioner with two overlapping predicates.

The jury returned a guilty verdict, and the State asked the court not to dismiss the jurors yet.⁵⁵ It intended to serve a recidivist information on Petitioner for an immediate trial the following day.⁵⁶

The next morning the parties and court met.⁵⁷ The State presented its information charging Petitioner with two prior convictions: one in Raleigh County with an April 12, 2010 sentencing date, and one a week later, on April 19, 2010, in Kanawha County.⁵⁸ The information did not specify when the underlying offenses occurred.

At Petitioner's request, the defense lawyer moved to withdraw.⁵⁹ Petitioner had encountered communication issues with his lawyer pretrial as well, but at that time the court mediated the situation to Petitioner's satisfaction.⁶⁰ This time Petitioner alleged improper conduct by counsel that made Petitioner uncomfortable going forward with him.⁶¹ He requested new counsel, or to represent himself.⁶²

⁵¹ A.R. 901. See also WV RPC Rule 3.7 ("Lawyer as Witness").

- ⁵³ Id.
- ⁵⁴ Id.

⁵⁷ Id.

⁵² A.R. 901.

⁵⁵ A.R. 995–96; A.R. 1000.

⁵⁶ See id.; A.R. 1015–16.

⁵⁸ A.R. 1108–09.

⁵⁹ A.R. 1016–17.

⁶⁰ A.R. 73–77.

⁶¹ A.R. 1017; A.R. 1019; A.R. 1024–25.

⁶² A.R. 1017.

The court permitted Petitioner to represent himself, with former counsel on standby.⁶³ But it denied his motion for a continuance to research recidivism and review the discovery.⁶⁴ Instead, the court allowed Petitioner a few minutes to review the information and recidivist statute and consult with his former lawyer.⁶⁵ But it would not dismiss the jury or delay the recidivist trial to a new date.⁶⁶

Petitioner denied the information and the State proceeded to present its case.⁶⁷ In testimony, the State focused on the dates of conviction.⁶⁸ But its sealed exhibits revealed the full sequence for both case histories.⁶⁹

Kanawha County Indictment 09-F-794 charged that on an unknown day in April 2009, Petitioner robbed and attempted to murder an individual.⁷⁰ He pleaded guilty on April 19, 2010.⁷¹ He waived a PSI, and the court immediately sentenced him.⁷²

Raleigh County indictment 09-F-233H charged that with a co-defendant, Petitioner on May 7, 2009, committed multiple counts of burglary, wanton endangerment, kidnapping, robbery, malicious assault, and conspiracy to murder.⁷³ The court accepted a plea deal on February 26, 2010.⁷⁴ The exhibits do not include a sentencing order, but an order accepting the plea scheduled the hearing for April 12, 2010.⁷⁵

The jury found that Petitioner was the same individual convicted in both predicate cases. The verdict form did not ask whether Petitioner committed the second offense after his conviction and sentence for the first offense.⁷⁶

- 72 Id.
- 1*u*.

⁷⁶ A.R. 1107.

⁶³ A.R. 1019.

⁶⁴ A.R. 1021–24.

⁶⁵ A.R. 1028.

⁶⁶ A.R. 1024.

⁶⁷ A.R. 1025; A.R. 1027–30.

⁶⁸ See A.R. 1034; A.R. 1040.

⁶⁹ A.R. 1094–1106.

⁷⁰ A.R. 1098–1100. ⁷¹ A.R. 1101–02.

⁷³ A.R. 1103–04. ⁷⁴ A.R. 1105–06.

 $^{^{75}}$ Id.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In most cases where the prosecutor comments on the defendant's silence, the record is murky as to whether the comment truly concerned post, as opposed to pre, arrest silence, and whether a sustained objection and corrective instruction mitigated the harm. Not here.

In a case that came down to credibility, the State went on at length concerning Petitioner's post-arrest silence. The prosecutor asked about Petitioner's choice to remain silent during the preliminary hearing, which necessarily entailed State custody. He then went on at length about Petitioner's silence right up until the day of trial. And rather than mitigate the harm, the court's erroneous ruling amplified it, giving a judicial stamp of approval to the prosecutorial misconduct.

The State also overreached with its recidivist information. The policy, common law, and now the text of the recidivist statute makes clear that each subsequent offense must occur after the prior conviction. Whatever the State may think of Petitioner's history, it is without authority to imprison him for life with only one predicate offense.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

It is beyond reasonable question that prosecutors may not comment upon post-arrest silence.⁷⁷ And where a case comes down to whether jurors believe the impeached defendant, such an error cannot be harmless.

Likewise, it is beyond reasonable question that defendants cannot serve life sentences for only a single, non-homicide predicate. Prosecutors who cannot prove two predicates should not seek life, and circuit courts are without jurisdiction to order the sentence.⁷⁸ Petitioner therefore requests a Rule 19 argument and signed opinion.

⁷⁷ See Doyle, 426 U.S. at 618 ("it would be fundamentally unfair and a deprivation of due process to allow the arrested person's silence to be used to impeach an explanation subsequently offered at trial."); Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Boyd*, 160 W. Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710 (1977) (modification recog-nized by *State v. Hoard*, 248 W. Va. 428, _____, 889 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2023)). ⁷⁸ See Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. McMannis*, 161 W. Va. 437, 242 S.E.2d 571 (1978).

ARGUMENT

I. The prosecutor violated the state and federal constitutions by commenting on Petitioner's post-arrest silence at his preliminary hearing.

So far as Petitioner can determine, it is virtually unprecedented for a prosecutor to impeach a defendant with what he supposedly failed to tell his lawyer. But there is robust case law as to commenting upon post-arrest silence regarding the police.⁷⁹ Prosecutors can't do it.⁸⁰ Not without violating constitutional rights they are sworn to uphold.⁸¹ It is therefore remarkable that the prosecutor below did so in a premeditated fashion,⁸² and even more remarkable that the court permitted it despite repeated, specific, objections.⁸³

"No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself[.]"⁸⁴ The Fifth Amendment applies to all custodial interrogations, not just those in front of a jury, and police must warn those in their custody that they have a right not to answer questions.⁸⁵ A warning of the right to remain silent would be "meaningless" if prosecutors could later impeach a defendant for invoking it.⁸⁶ It is implicit to the warning itself that the individual may not be punished for silence.⁸⁷ Prosecutor's engage in misconduct⁸⁸ and violate due process when they comment upon post-arrest silence.⁸⁹

There is no factual question as to whether the prosecutor referred to post-arrest silence.⁹⁰ The prosecutor expressly anchored his question to the preliminary hearing, which axiomatically occurred after Petitioner was in custody.⁹¹ By that time, both the arresting officer and a magistrate would have warned Petitioner he had the right to remain silent.⁹²

⁸⁹ See Doyle, 426 U.S. at 619.

⁷⁹ See Doyle, 426 U.S. at 618 (1976).

⁸⁰ See Boyd, 160 W. Va. 234 at Syl. Pt. 1; Hoard, 889 S.E. 2d at 11.

⁸¹ W. Va. Const. art. IV, § 5.

⁸² See A.R. 871.

⁸³ See A.R. 899–01.

⁸⁴ U.S. Const. Amend. V; accord. W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 5.

⁸⁵ See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444–45 (1966).

⁸⁶ Walker, 207 W. Va. at 421; see also Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 617 (1976).

⁸⁷ See Doyle, 426 U.S. at 618.

⁸⁸ See Bennett L. Gershman, Prosecutorial Misconduct, § 11:15 (Thomson Reuters 2019–2020).

⁹⁰ See State v. Hoard, 248 W. Va. 428, 889 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2023).

⁹¹ State v. Davis, 236 W. Va. 550, 555, 782 S.E.2d 423, 428 (2015).

⁹² See W. Va. Code § 62-1-6.

This Court reviews the legal issue of whether the lower court erred in allowing the State to inquire into post-arrest silence *de novo*.⁹³ Here, too, there is little question. The state and federal constitutions have prohibited the practice for decades.

1. The prosecutor's misconduct violated Petitioner's right to due process.

In *Doyle v. Ohio*, the Supreme Court addressed this exact question.⁹⁴ There, co-defendants offered the same exculpatory explanation for the first time during separate trials.⁹⁵ Their explanation was not facially implausible, and little in the record contradicted it besides an informant's testimony—who their account impeached.⁹⁶ In a single colloquy each, the State impeached the co-defendants with their post-arrest silence.⁹⁷

The Ohio courts approved of this cross-examination on the theory that the co-defendants' silence went to credibility, not guilt.⁹⁸ But the Supreme Court reversed.⁹⁹ It ruled that implicit to *Miranda* warnings is the assurance the State will not weaponize silence, and that post-arrest silence may be reliance on *Miranda* rather than evidence of recent fabrication.¹⁰⁰ Thus the court held that impeaching a defendant with post-arrest silence violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.¹⁰¹

In *State v. Boyd*, this Court agreed, and ruled that under the state constitution "it is reversible error for the prosecutor to cross-examine a defendant in regard to his pre-trial silence or to comment on the same to the jury."¹⁰² The Court reversed even though the trial court had advised jurors that the defendant had the right to remain silent.¹⁰³

⁹³ See Hoard, 889 S.E.2d at 11 (exercising plenary review).

⁹⁴ See Doyle, 426 U.S. at 611.

⁹⁵ See id. at 612–13.

⁹⁶ See id. at 613.

⁹⁷ See id. at 614.

⁹⁸ See id. at 615–16.

⁹⁹ See id.

¹⁰⁰ See id. at 617–18.

¹⁰¹ See id. at 619–18.

 ¹⁰² Boyd, 160 W. Va. 234 at Syl. Pt. 1. The Court later clarified the pre/post arrest distinction in *State v. Oxier*, 175 W. Va. 760, 761, 338 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1985).
¹⁰³ See id. at 236.

These cases are directly on point. The prosecutor impeached Petitioner with his silence after the arresting officer and a magistrate had warned him of his rights.¹⁰⁴ This was a premediated strategy, not a stray comment from a rogue witness.¹⁰⁵ The court overruled Petitioner's objections, allowing the prosecutor to pound home the impeachment.¹⁰⁶ Whether he appreciated the wrongfulness of his actions or not, the prosecutor's misconduct violated due process.¹⁰⁷

2. The illegal impeachment was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Furthermore, the error prejudiced Petitioner, warranting a new trial. "[B]efore a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt[.]"¹⁰⁸ The State, to meet this heavy burden, must prove there is no "… reasonable possibility that the evidence complained of might have contributed to the conviction."¹⁰⁹

Here, the State cannot prevail because the illegal impeachment bore on the credibility contest the jury had to decide. This is like *Boyd*, where the defendant testified to a complete defense.¹¹⁰ His explanation conformed to the basic case facts, and this Court found reversible error.¹¹¹ Likewise here, Petitioner's testimony undermined the State's entire case. Certainly, if jurors believed the victim, they could convict. But Petitioner's trial theory—if believed—gave a "not entirely implausible"¹¹² explanation why the victim would lie.¹¹³ Thus, if jurors believed Petitioner, they were duty-bound to acquit. This error strikes at the heart of the issue jurors needed to resolve.

¹⁰⁴ A.R. 898–01.

¹⁰⁵ Compare A.R. 871 with State v. Hamilton, 177 W. Va. 611, 614, 355 S.E.2d 400, 403 (1987).

¹⁰⁶ See A.R. 899–01.

¹⁰⁷ See Gershman, § 11:15, *supra* at n. 88.

¹⁰⁸ Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); accord. Hoard, 248 W. Va. 428 at Syl. Pt. 6. ¹⁰⁹ Chapman, 386 U.S. at 23–24.

¹¹⁰ See Boyd, 160 W. Va. at 236.

See Boya, 160 W. Va. at 236.

¹¹¹ See id.; id. at 240–41.

¹¹² *Doyle*, 426 U.S. at 613.

¹¹³ See A.R. 975.

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