IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-318

SCA EFiled: Jan 10 2024

09:47PM EST

Transaction ID 71786056

Andrew Miller,		
Petitioner,		
v.		
State of West Virginia,		
Respondent.		
RESPONDENT'S BRIEF		

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Lindsay S. See (WV Bar # 13360)

Solicitor General

Michael R. Williams (WV Bar #14148)

Principal Deputy Solicitor General

Spencer J. Davenport (WV Bar # 14364)

Assistant Solicitor General

State Capitol Complex

Building 1, Room E-26

Charleston, WV 25305-0220

Email: Lindsay.S.See@wvago.gov

Michael.R.Williams@wvago.gov

Spencer.J.Davenport@wvago.gov

Telephone: (304) 558-2021 Facsimile: (304) 558-0140

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

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The State requests oral argument under Rule 20 because it asks this Court to reconsider its precedent.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Miller argues that he is entitled to a new trial because the circuit court erred in admitting evidence of his pre-trial silence in violation of *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610 (1976) and *State v. Boyd*, 160 W. Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710 (1977). This Court reviews evidentiary rulings "under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Marple*, 197 W. Va. 47, 51, 475 S.E.2d 47, 51 (1996). Even evidentiary rulings that "affect[] constitutional rights." *State v. Frazier*, 229 W. Va. 724, 727, 735 S.E.2d 727, 730 (2012).

Miller also argues that the circuit court wrongly sentenced him to life imprisonment under West Virginia's recidivist statute. This Court reviews a sentencing order "under a deferential

abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands." Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997).

ARGUMENT

I. The State's Remarks Concerning Miller's Silence Do Not Warrant Reversal.

Miller's post-arrest-silence claim turns on the false idea that (admittedly) improper questions made a difference in who the jury chose to believe. Pet'r's Br. 10. But by that point in the trial, the jury had already heard properly admitted testimony concerning Miller's pre-*Miranda* silence that undercut Miller's testimony that somebody else was the shooter. This made the comments on post-*Miranda* silence cumulative in effect. In any event, the overwhelming evidence at trial pointed to Miller as the shooter—witness testimony, forensics, and Miller's actions all supported the verdict. So asking Miller about his post-arrest silence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm his conviction.

A. The improper questions are not enough for a new trial because they were cumulative to appropriate questions making the same point.

The State's permissible references to Miller's pre-arrest silence rendered very similar questions about his post-arrest silence cumulative in effect.

1. Miller's central theory at trial is that Thompson—not him—was the shooter. Pet'r's Br.

3. To poke holes in that defense, the prosecutor cross-examined Miller as to whether he told anybody else that Thompson was the shooter. The prosecutor began by asking Miller if he reported the crime the evening it happened or in the days after. App. 898. Miller hadn't. Miller concedes that nothing about this exchange was unconstitutional. Pet'r's Br. 4. He's right, *Jenkins v. Anderson*, 447 U.S. 231, 240 (1980), and that rule makes sense because a suspect is not facing compulsion within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment pre-*Miranda*. *Salinas v. Texas*, 570 U.S. 178, 192, (2013) (Thomas, J., concurring in judgment). But Miller argues that it was a

constitutional error for the court to allow the prosecutor to also ask whether Miller could have told officers about another shooter at his preliminary hearing or at any other time leading up to trial—in other words, why he stayed silent post-arrest. Pet'r's Br. 4; App. 898-900.

While Miller's correct that this Court and the United States Supreme Court make the State's references to his post-*Miranda* silence improper, *Boyd*, 160 W. Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710, *Doyle*, 426 U.S. 610, the United States Supreme Court has also held that a State's permissible references to a defendant's pre-*Miranda* silence make subsequent references to a defendant's post-*Miranda* silence "cumulative." *Brecht v. Abrahamson*, 507 U.S. 619, 639 (1993). The reason is that referring to a defendant's silence at a time when it is fair game for impeachment makes any error in *also* making the same point another way not so harmful as to require reversal. *Id*. That reasoning is even stronger when the improper references are infrequent and the evidence of guilt is "weighty." *Id*.

While *Brecht* applied this cumulative analysis in the habeas context, at least one federal court had already found that references to "post-*Miranda* silence was cumulative of other permissible evidence" on direct appeal. *United States v. Rivera*, 944 F.2d 1563, 1569 (11th Cir. 1991). Like the Supreme Court in *Brecht*, the Eleventh Circuit in *Rivera* found that permissible evidence of the same character and getting to the same point meant that improper references were "not so harmful." *Id.* And just as the Supreme Court would later do in *Brecht*, the *Rivera* Court remarked that its "conclusion is further fortified when the degree of prejudice from this constitutional error is juxtaposed against the strength of the evidence." *Id.*

Like in *Brecht* and *Rivera*, here the prosecutor legitimately inquired into Miller's pre-arrest silence—if Thompson was really the shooter as Miller now claimed, Miller could have told the police when they stopped him, but he didn't. The prosecutor then made the same point, albeit

improperly, by asking Miller if he could have told somebody his theory at his preliminary hearing or later. App. 899. So both lines of inquiry went to Miller's decision not to tell anybody who the real shooter was—making the improper remarks cumulative in effect. In short, because the State was "clearly entitled" to question Miller on his pre-arrest statements (and lack thereof), additional comments on "post-*Miranda* silence was cumulative of other permissible evidence." *Rivera*, 944 F.2d at 1569. And as explained below, the overwhelming evidence of Miller's guilt further supports this finding.

2. Nevertheless, Miller argues that "[a] warning of the right to remain silent would be 'meaningless' if prosecutors could later impeach a defendant for invoking it." Pet'r's Br. 8. Miller relies on *State v. Walker* for this point, where this Court found reversible error where the State cross-examined the defendant about his post-*Miranda* silence and then "made repeated remarks" about it in the State's closing argument. 207 W. Va. 415, 419-21, 533 S.E.2d 48, 52-54 (2000). To do otherwise, this Court said, "would effectively make *Miranda* warnings meaningless." *Id.* at 421, 533 S.E.2d at 54.

Agreed, but only as far as *Walker* goes. It stands for the general rule—which the State does not challenge here—that commenting on post-*Miranda* silence is error. Notably, *Walker* did not involve any pre-*Miranda* references, so the cumulative issue was never in play. So *Walker* provides little guidance under facts like these. And *Walker* itself is no per se rule. There and since, this Court has looked at references to post-*Miranda* silences based on the facts of the cases. *Walker* considered four context-specific factors "in determining whether improper prosecutorial comment is so damaging as to require reversal"—including how extensive the comments are. 207 W. Va. at 421, 533 S.E.2d at 54 (citation omitted). Based on that factor, harping "repeated[ly]" on post-*Miranda* silence during the State's closing argument—not a few questions during a longer and far-

ranging cross-examination earlier in the trial, as here—gave the Court "little difficulty in finding reversible error." *Id.* Further, just last year in *State v. Hoard*, this Court found "*Walker* unpersuasive under the facts present here." 248 W. Va. 428, 439, 889 S.E.2d 1, 12 (2023). Far from treating *Walker* as an iron-clad rule, the Court detailed other cases where it refused to reverse based on post-*Miranda* silence comments—and ultimately did the same thing there, too. *Id.* at 440, 889 S.E.2d at 13.

So the cumulative-error analysis is consistent with this Court's practice of looking at all the facts of the case to see if improper comments require reversal. And the facts here show that the minimal references to the post-*Miranda* silence are cumulative in effect combined with the pre-*Miranda* references. The comments were also not prejudicial against the weight of the evidence (see below), but given their cumulative nature, the Court need not even reach the harmless-error stage of the analysis.

In any event, adopting a cumulative finding here would not render *Miranda* meaningless any more than using the ordinary harmless-error lens does. To start, it would merely continue what this Court has repeatedly recognized—remedies for constitutional errors depend on the context. *State v. A.B.*, 247 W. Va. 495, 507, 881 S.E.2d 406, 418 (2022), *cert. denied sub nom. A. B. v. W. Virginia*, 143 S. Ct. 2499 (2023) (applying harmless error where defendant went to trial with counsel who had an actual conflict of interest); *State v. Miller*, 184 W. Va. 367, 369, 400 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1990) (failure to instruct the jury on the essential elements of the offenses charged is reversible error). A cumulative finding also does not render *Miranda* meaningless because it only applies when the State has already properly elicited the same testimony about pre-*Miranda* silence. In that sense, it's a different species of the more general harmless error argument: if the jury can and did hear about the defendant's silence already, then mentioning the same thing again

is less likely to be prejudicial. Nor is the cumulative analysis a per se rule in favor of the State. As already explained, *Brecht* and *Rivera* mirror this Court's approach of looking at the evidence overall in determining whether the error was cumulative. So *Walker*'s approach to post-*Miranda* silence still matters. It's just that everything else it said—and that this Court said in similar contexts since—matters too.

B. Any improper remarks regarding Miller's pre-trial silence were harmless.

In any event, the questions concerning Miller's pre-trial silence were harmless. True, this Court has embraced the rule set out in *Doyle v. Ohio* that a defendant's silence cannot be used against him or her. *See Boyd*, 160 W. Va. at 240, 233 S.E.2d at 716. But (again), this Court has also recognized that constitutional errors are not per se reversible. *State v. Blair*, 158 W. Va. 647, 659, 214 S.E.2d 330, 337 (1975) ("[A]ppellate courts are not bound to reverse for a technical violation of a fundamental right."). Instead, this Court applies harmless error—including in instances where the State references a defendant's post-*Miranda* silence during trial. *Hoard*, 248 W. Va. at 440, 889 S.E.2d at 13; *Marple*, 197 W. Va. at 53, 475 S.E.2d at 53.

In applying harmless error, the Court sees if "the guilty verdict actually rendered ... was surely unattributable to the error." *Marple*, 197 W. Va. at 53, 475 S.E.2d at 53. It does this by looking at the improper references to post-*Miranda* silences and considering whether the overwhelming evidence otherwise supported conviction. *Id.*; *Hoard*, 248 W. Va. 428, 889 S.E.2d at 13. For example, just last year in *Hoard*, this Court found harmless error where the State referred to the defendant's post-arrest silence twice at trial. "[T]he brevity of [the] references, coupled with the overwhelming evidence," meant that the "error was harmless." *Hoard*, 248 W. Va. at 438, 889 S.E.2d at 11. This result held even despite the circuit court ruling that "Hoard needed to state that he didn't give any statement to police upon the advice of counsel"—though he ultimately never

answered that he never told police, that direction from the circuit court put even greater weight on the post-Miranda silence than a prosecutor's comment alone. Id. at 436, 889 S.E.2d at 9. Likewise, in *Marple*, this Court affirmed a defendant's conviction where the investigating officer commented on the defendant's post-Miranda silence. 197 W. Va. 47, 54, 475 S.E.2d 47, 54 (1996). This Court considered that the officer only made a "few remarks" and that the post-Miranda silence was never used during closing argument—and weighed those few remarks against the 28 witnesses in the case, the defendant's own statements to some of the witnesses, and the forensic evidence. Id. at 53-54, 475 S.E.2d at 53-54. Given that record as a whole, Marple concluded that the "jury would have reached the same verdict absent the post-Miranda silence testimony." Id.; see also State v. Hillberry, 233 W. Va. 27, 34, 754 S.E.2d 603, 610 (2014) (finding no reversible error where brief reference to a defendant's pre-trial silence was an isolated comment and the prejudicial effect was minimal); State v. Hamilton, 177 W. Va. 611, 614-15, 355 S.E.2d 400, 403-04 (1987) (same); State v. Bruffey, 231 W. Va. 502, 509-10, 745 S.E.2d 540, 547-48 (2013) (finding no error with brief references to Miranda warnings because State never "suggest[ed] that his silence is indicative of guilt");

Only where the evidence is considerably less weighty or the remarks considerably more prejudicial has the Court found reversible error. Take Miller's reliance on *Boyd*. That case involved a murder with no witnesses and where the defendant admitted he killed the victim but claimed self-defense. 160 W. Va. at 236, 233 S.E.2d at 714. The prosecutor asked the defendant more than once about his pre-trial silence *and* asked him why he did not say anything. *Id.*, 233 S.E.2d at 714. The questions were pointed: Why, if the defendant testified to the jury "I had to kill the man because he had a gun in his hand," did he "not tell that to the police when [they] gave [him] the opportunity immediately after it happened to make a statement about what happened?"

Id., 233 S.E.2d at 713 n.1. So the prosecutor impeaching Boyd's silence directly undercut his defense in a way more general remarks on post-arrest silence may not. *Boyd*, too, was decided well before this Court started applying the harmless error test expressly in this context in cases like *Marple* and *Hoard*. Because *Boyd* does not talk about balancing the remarks against the weight of the evidence overall, it provides little guidance in a case where even Miller agrees harmless error would apply if the facts warranted it. Pet'r's Br. 10-12.

Walker also involved a self-defense theory, so the question of whether the defendant shot the victim was never in dispute as it is here. 207 W. Va. at 417, 533 S.E.2d at 50. As explained above, the prosecutor in Walker also made extensive references to Walker's silence—both in cross examination and in closing argument. Id. at 419-421, 533 S.E.2d at 52-54. In closing, for instance, the State kept saying that the defendant "never said anything to the police officers," then asked the jury directly "why wouldn't he?" Id. at 421, 533 S.E.2d at 54. The prosecutor insisted to the jury that not saying anything "doesn't make sense"—because "[i]f it happened, he would have told them. He would have said that to the police officers." Id. Thus, the errors in Walker had a far greater potential for prejudice than in other cases with a few remarks on cross-examination alone.

These cases all show that this Court considers the references to the defendant's postMiranda silence while also considering their context and the other evidence of guilt in determining harmless error. See also Brecht, 507 U.S. at 639 ("The State's references to petitioner's postMiranda silence were infrequent, comprising less than two pages of the 900-page trial transcript in this case ... Moreover, the State's evidence of guilt was, if not overwhelming, certainly weighty."). And they show this Court's oft-repeated conclusion that a few stray comments are usually harmless when measured against the trial as a whole. See State v. Atkins, 163 W. Va. 502, 515, 261 S.E.2d 55, 63 (1979) ("If the case contains a number of substantial key factual conflicts

or is basically a circumstantial evidence case, or is one that is largely dependent on the testimony of a co-participant for conviction, there is an increased probability that the error will be deemed prejudicial.").

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